and

Phillip W. Broadhead, MSB [REDACTED]
Criminal Appeals Clinic
The University of Mississippi School of Law
520 Lamar Law Center
Post Office Box 1848
University, MS 38677-1848
Telephone: 662.915.5560
Facsimile: 662.915.6933

2007-KA-01439
SCT-T

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-01439-SCT

MICHAEL HENRY HEARN

APPELLANT

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER, GIVING ALL REASONABLE INFERENCES TO THE STATE'S CASE-IN-CHIEF, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT OR A NEW TRIAL AND WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT SINCE THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF AND ESTABLISH EACH AND EVERY ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE CRIME OF THREATENING A JUDGE BY LEGALLY COMPETENT EVIDENCE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

ISSUE TWO:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO CONDUCT THE NECESSARY ON-THE-RECORD EXAMINATION AND WARNINGS REQUIRED PRIOR TO TRIAL TO DETERMINE THE APPELLANT'S COMPETENCY BOTH TO STAND TRIAL AND TO EFFECTIVELY REPRESENT HIMSELF *PRO SE* AT TRIAL.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE APPELLANT AND A STATE PSYCHIATRIST WHERE NO RECOGNIZED EXCEPTION EXISTS OR DUTY TO WARN EXISTS UNDER MISS R. EVID. 503 AND WHERE THE APPELLANT WAS NOT PROPERLY WARNED THAT THE DOCTOR WAS AN AGENT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI AND THAT THE APPELLANT HAD A RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.

ISSUE FOUR:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE JURY INSTRUCTIONS D-10, D-11, AND D-12, REGARDING THE ISSUE OF INSANITY, WHEN SUFFICIENT CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS TO THE APPELLANT'S MENTAL STATE IN THE CASE WAS PRESENTED TO THE JURY AT TRIAL.

ISSUE FIVE:

WHETHER MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-9-55 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER ARTICLE 3, SECTION 26 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION AND THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THE PRESENT CASE BECAUSE THE APPELLANT DID NOT UTTER A SERIOUS EXPRESSION OF AN INTENT TO DO BODILY HARM.

ISSUE SIX:

WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS BY THE TRIAL COURT, THOUGH JUDGED BY THIS HONORABLE COURT TO BE HARMLESS, TOGETHER COMBINED TO VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Michael Henry Hearn is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to *Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution* and *Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2001)*.

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous. Also, this case presents a novel question of statutory construction in light of First Amendment considerations that needs to be resolved by this honorable Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When a mentally ill and delusional inmate's conversations with a State psychiatrist are disclosed

without his consent to others to cause fear and concern in the minds of judges, the rush to resolve these fears inevitably leads to a disturbing result. The Appellant, Michael Henry Hearn (hereinafter "Mr. Hearn"), long suffering from a diagnosed disease of the mind, wrote cryptic letters and made threatening statements towards two circuit court judges. These judges had presided over his previous cases and had received numerous communications from Mr. Hearn for some time; however, the judges became concerned only after receiving a warning from a state psychiatrist, Dr. Tom Moore (hereinafter "Dr. Moore"). At trial, Mr. Hearn, confused and impaired as a result of his mental illness, failed to grasp the seriousness of the charges and the possibility of a life sentence. As these facts together contributed to the paranoia of the Appellant, Mr. Hearn unwisely chose to remove his counsel moments before trial began and was forced to represent himself. Mr. Hearn unwittingly became an impediment to his own defense as well as a key asset to the prosecution. Predictably, his conviction was easily secured.

Mr. Hearn was sent to the state hospital for evaluation, where doctors documented several mental disorders including Manic Bipolar and Mixed Personality Disorders and deemed Mr. Hearn incompetent to stand trial on the charge. (CP. I 35-36, RE. 28-29). Mr. Hearn has spent most of his life in the criminal justice system. Mr. Hearn was first convicted in the late 1970s for selling drugs in Oktibbeha County, and subsequently was arrested and charged with false pretense in 1988. In 1994 Mr. Hearn was charged with aggravated assault and his trial was initially presided over by Circuit Judge Bailey (T. II 210-11) and then Circuit Judge Roberts (T. I 124). Mr. Hearn was convicted and sentenced to twenty years' incarceration. (T. I 129). While in prison, Mr. Hearn wrote numerous letters to a wide range of government officials, including Judges Roberts and Bailey. (T. I 133-34; T. II 212, 294). The cryptic nature of these letters reflected the multiple diagnoses made about his mental disorders.

During a mental evaluation in 2004, conducted at East Mississippi Correctional Facility, Mr. Hearn made threatening remarks about Judges Roberts and Bailey to the examining psychiatrist, Dr. Moore. (T.

II 179). Dr. Moore, upon hearing these threats, proceeded to notify the judges of the contents of his session with Mr. Hearn, telling the judges that he believed the threats to be credible. (CP. 37, RE. 30).

After being informed of the statements by Mr. Hearn and of his scheduled release date of December 2005, the judges sent a letter to Mississippi Department of Corrections (hereinafter "MDOC") Commissioner Christopher Epps (hereinafter "Epps"). (CP. I 38-39, RE. 31-32). The judges implored MDOC to recalculate Mr. Hearn's release date and requested MDOC to initiate civil commitment proceedings against Mr. Hearn. (CP. 38-39, RE. 31-32). Epps responded that Mr. Hearn's sentence had been properly calculated and that it was not MDOC's place to institute civil commitment hearings. (CP. 40-42, RE. 33-35).

Only after this failed attempt was an investigation opened by the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation (hereinafter "MBI"). (T. II 195). In March 2005, Mr. Hearn was indicted on two counts of Intimidating a Judge in violation of *Miss. Code Ann. § 97-9-55* (Supp. 2004) (CP. 2-3, RE. 15-16) subject to a habitual offender sentencing enhancement under *Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-83* (Supp. 2004) (CP. 4, RE. 17), and faced trial in Cause No. 350-05. (T. I 1, RE. 1).

As the date for trial approached, a number of developments delayed the start of the proceedings. First, the expected recusals of Judges Roberts and Bailey were approved. (CP. 8-9, RE. 36-37). Next, Gary B. Jones withdrew as counsel for Mr. Hearn, and Dan Duggan Jr. was appointed in his stead. (CP. 23, RE. 38). Then, Justice Kenneth Griffis of the Mississippi Court of Appeals was designated Special Judge (CP. 15, RE. 39) but subsequently recused himself from the case. (CP. 27, RE. 40). Just as Justice David Ishee of the Mississippi Court of Appeals was appointed as Special Judge and the trial appeared ready to proceed (CP. 28, RE. 41), the state was struck by Hurricane Katrina and trial was delayed again. (CP. 31, RE. 42). During pretrial motions, Dan Duggan, Jr. (hereinafter "Mr. Duggan") filed a motion in September 2005 requesting a mental evaluation of Mr. Hearn (CP. 32-34, RE. 43-45) which was granted (CP. 47-50, RE. 46-

49). However, Mr. Hearn's mental evaluation was not completed until Early 2007, further postponing trial. (CP. 81, RE. 50).

Trial in the matter finally began July 23, 2007. The chaotic events of trial were precipitated by several pretrial motions minutes before trial. Mr. Hearn requested a change of venue and also hastily requested to have Mr. Duggan removed as counsel. (T. I 30). Motions had not previously been filed on these issues as Mr. Duggan had unexpectedly been informed of Mr. Hearn's decision mere moments before trial was to begin. (T. I 30). Mr. Hearn attempted to explain that he wished to have Mr. Duggan removed as counsel because he did not feel that he was represented by Mr. Duggan and even confusingly commented that Mr. Duggan was "not [his] attorney." (T. I 31). When asked why the motion should be granted, Mr. Hearn responded that he had not seen or talked to Mr. Duggan since November 22, 2005. (T. I 31). At that time, Mr. Duggan consented to act as a legal advisor in the event the trial court should remove him as counsel. (T. I 32).

Regarding the change of venue issue, Mr. Hearn attempted to argue that there had been media coverage and was concerned how people in the community may have felt about the judge who had been threatened. (T. I 31). Due to the confused and incoherent manner which Mr. Hearn addressed the court, the State did not provide any rebuttal nor object to either motion. (T. I 32). The motion for change of venue was also summarily denied since "no sufficient evidence" was presented and that the motion was untimely. (T. I 32, RE. 51).

While the trial judge was explaining the decision of the court, Mr. Hearn interrupted with an objection to the ruling and was reprimanded by the court. (T. I 33, RE. 52). The court granted the motion to remove Mr. Duggan as counsel, though Mr. Duggan was asked to remain on as legal advisor to Mr. Hearn. (T. I 33, RE. 52). The trial judge asked Mr. Hearn if he wished to represent himself and Mr. Hearn replied, "[n]o. I want you to appoint me an attorney." (T. I 33). The trial court refused this request due to the

timeliness of the request and presented Mr. Hearn with the problematic dilemma of choosing to either represent himself or retain Mr. Duggan as counsel. (T. I 33, RE. 52). Mr. Hearn decided, begrudgingly, to represent himself. (T. I 33-34). While explaining the decision of the court on this matter Mr. Hearn again interrupted the trial judge. (T. I 33-34). Ironically, the trial judge warned Mr. Hearn that he would not allow the trial “to start off as any sort of sideshow.” (T. I 34). However, the trial judge did not provide a warning as to the pitfalls faced by a *pro se* defendant nor warn Mr. Hearn of the consequences. It was not until after the jury was empaneled that the trial judge finally notified Mr. Hearn that he would be held to the same standard as a licensed attorney. (T. I 112).

During the State’s opening argument, the prosecutor admitted that the letters in question were incomprehensible and cryptic; nonetheless, he conjectured they had an ominous tone. (T. I 117). He also informed the jury of the privileged conversation that took place between Mr. Hearn and Dr. Moore. (T. I 118). The prosecutor indicated he could only speculate as to the result Mr. Hearn hoped to obtain as a result of these letters and conversations, since, as the prosecutor admitted, the judges would not have jurisdiction to provide any relief for Mr. Hearn. (T. I 119). Mr. Hearn attempted to make an opening statement, however, due to his tangential thought process and lack of understanding of the proceedings he was interrupted by the trial judge twice before finally being instructed by the court “to have a seat.” (T. I 120-21, RE. 53-54).

Several witnesses for the State testified about their impressions of the letters that Mr. Hearn wrote to Judges Robert and Bailey, as well as oral statements Mr. Hearn made about each judge. Judge Roberts testified that before Dr. Moore’s warning he regarded the letters as merely “unusual, difficult to understand, intimidating to some degree because you don’t know what the innuendo is in the letter.” (T. I 134). Judge Roberts also testified that the letters contained obscene and vulgar language. (T. I 134). When questioned by Mr. Hearn as to what comments he perceived as directly threatening, Judge Roberts responded, “you

seem to imply that the court system has gone to hell as you put it.” (T. II 153). When questioned where Mr. Hearn had written that statement Judge Roberts responded that he could not read Mr. Hearn’s mind and that Mr. Hearn would “have to interpret what [he] meant in that letter.” (T. II 155). Again, Judge Roberts indicated that he inferred from the letters that Mr. Hearn was merely upset with the court system. (T. II 155). However, Judge Roberts could not point to a single overt or direct threat of bodily harm that was contained in the letters. The impact of this admission was likely minimized by Mr. Hearn’s distracting conduct when he said to the jury, “let me talk out loud for a minute, please. I’m thinking.” (T. II 163). Mr. Hearn then asked if Judge Roberts was stating that Mr. Hearn was violent and had a rude attitude. (T. II 164). Judge Roberts responded without objection by the defense that it was his opinion that Mr. Hearn was violent. (T. II 164). Mr. Hearn attempted to argue with the witness that he was not violent and drew yet another reprimand from the trial judge. (T. II 163-64, RE. 55-56).

Next Dr. Moore testified that in the course of the July 29, 2004 assessment that Mr. Hearn commented he would risk incarceration in order to inflict personal injury on Judges Roberts and Bailey. (T. II 179). Dr. Moore indicated that after this assessment, he consulted his supervisor, Dr. James Carter, in order to determine if he had a duty to warn. (T. II 180). Based on Mr. Hearn’s background and mental disorder the doctors concluded a duty to warn existed. (T. II 180). On August 13, 2004, Dr. Moore briefly spoke with Mr. Hearn and Mr. Hearn inquired whether Dr. Moore was going to write a letter, in order to, according to Dr. Moore “warn anybody.” (T. II 182). After hearing these threatening remarks, Dr. Moore delayed nearly thirty days before he drafted a “duty to warn” letter to Judge Roberts on August 24, 2004 (T. II 181), waiting another seven days before finally signing and sending it. (CP. 37, RE. 30). It is undisputed that prior to the evaluation Dr. Moore did not warn Mr. Hearn that he was free to disclose the contents of the evaluation with either judge; nor did Mr. Hearn consent to such disclosure and thereby waive any confidentiality regarding the conversation. The only “warning” that Mr. Hearn ever received was during the

intake process when he first arrived at the correctional facility four years prior. (T. I 20; CP. 37, RE. 30).

Mr. Hearn attempted to cross examine Dr. Moore; however, Mr. Hearn was incoherent from the outset of his questioning. Mr. Hearn asked whether Dr. Moore knew “that I was not signed up for psychiatric treatment?” (T. II 185). Dr. Moore responded with the question, “[y]ou did not sign up for psychiatric treatment?” (T. II 185). Mr. Hearn confusingly responded, “Yes, I did. I signed up.” (T. II 185). Mr. Hearn was able to elicit from Dr. Moore that the decision to conduct the assessment was within Dr. Moore’s discretion and not required or ordered by anyone else. (T. II 186). As he noted in the letter to Judge Roberts, Dr. Moore also testified there were mixed judgments among the mental health personnel over whether Mr. Hearn was serious about following through with his intentions to harm the judges. (T. II 192; CP. 37, RE. 30).

Danny Knight (hereinafter “Knight”), a Special Agent with the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation, testified that he began the initial investigation regarding the threats made in the letters sent to Judges Roberts and Bailey in November of 2004. (T. II 195). There was no evidence offered by the State to indicate that Knight was an expert in any field. Knight testified that in the course of his investigation, he read a multitude of letters written by Mr. Hearn. (T. II 196). Knight indicated that in his opinion the letters made “a lot of threats,” using vulgar language and biblical verses, that “went along with what he was stating in the letter.” (T. II 198). The vulgar language was in the form of “name-calling” directed at the judges. (T. II 198). Knight was questioned if any of the letters included a direct threat. (T. II 198). Knight curiously responded that in his opinion he “perceived direct threats to [the judges].” (T. II 198). Mr. Hearn attempted to object, however, before he could even indicate grounds for the objection, the objection was overruled. (T. II 199, RE. 57). The prosecutor asked Knight if he could decipher whether Mr. Hearn was threatening to sue the judges, as contended by Mr. Hearn, or whether he was threatening to kill the judges. (T. II 200). Knight opined that Mr. Hearn was threatening to kill the judges. (T. II 200).

Mr. Hearn attempted cross-examination; however, again his examination was confused and mired in warnings and admonishments from the trial court. Mr. Hearn attempted to question Knight about letters Mr. Hearn had written to Washington, D.C. asking for an investigation of Judge Roberts and legal filings in a federal district court. (T. II 202). The trial judge attempted to explain that this topic was irrelevant and that the federal system was completely separate from the Mississippi court system. (T. II 203). Mr. Hearn continued to ask Knight if after the trial he could contact the Attorney General or anyone he knew at the Attorney General's office in order to find out why Arthur Lee Nored (hereinafter "Nored"), a member of the Mississippi Parole Board during one of Mr. Hearn's hearings, was never investigated. (T. II 206). Instructing Mr. Hearn to move on from this point, the trial judge became clearly agitated when Mr. Hearn again interrupted him. (T. II 206). In front of the jury, the judge admonished Mr. Hearn that the Appellant was "starting to try his patience." (T. II 206, RE. 58).

Next, Judge Bailey testified that his contact with Mr. Hearn was limited to presiding over a hearing that set a criminal matter of Mr. Hearn's for trial. (T. II 210). After the brief hearing, the matter was reassigned to Judge Roberts and was later *nolle prosequi*. (T. II 210). Judge Bailey indicated that he had never had any contact prior to this hearing with Mr. Hearn, nor any since, other than the letters that he received from Mr. Hearn. (T. II 211-12). When asked about the content of the letters, Judge Bailey admitted they were hard to interpret. (T. II 212). Judge Bailey also admitted that prior to the letter from Dr. Moore he had not worried about Mr. Hearn's letters, did not think about the matter much, and only felt threatened when Dr. Moore called him some time in late August. (T. II 213). Judge Bailey indicated that, as a result of this conversation, he viewed the letters in a different light and had a different feeling about the content of the letters. (T. II 214).

During cross-examination of Judge Bailey, Mr. Hearn asked if Judge Bailey had ever hired an attorney for an inmate and specifically, if he hired Mr. Duggan to represent Mr. Hearn. (T. II 219). Judge

Bailey replied to the bizarre inquiry that he had never done so and did not hire Mr. Duggan. (T. II 219).

With the jury out, a discussion took place over the admission of videotaped interviews of Mr. Hearn. (T. II 223). Mr. Hearn obviously did not understand the legal blunder that introducing the tapes could present, and it took the advice of his legal advisor to keep the Appellant from sabotaging his case. (T. II 224). The next morning before the jury was brought back in, Mr. Duggan notified the court that Mr. Hearn wished to withdraw his request. (T. II 226).

Next, Arthur Lee Nored took the stand, testifying that he had known Judge Roberts for some time. (T. II 230) Nored also testified that during the course of a parole hearing involving Mr. Hearn, he questioned Mr. Hearn about what he would do if paroled. (T. II 232). According to Nored, Mr. Hearn believed he had been falsely imprisoned and would take care of the judges that had put him in jail, specifically naming Judge Roberts. (T. II 232). Mr. Hearn was subsequently denied parole. (T. II 232). Nored contacted the Department of Corrections investigator, Johnny Covington (hereinafter "Covington") and notified him of the conversation that took place; however, Covington said he would not follow up on the matter. (T. II 233). Nored then decided to contact Judge Roberts directly and related the discussion that took place at the parole hearing. (T. II 234). Specifically, Nored indicated that he understood the threat to relate to a personal vendetta and was a physical threat as opposed to a threat of a lawsuit on behalf of Mr. Hearn. (T. II 234).

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