IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL HENRY HEARN

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

JUN 2 0 2008

NO. 2007-KA-1439-SCT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Court: All right. Then I will allow you to dismiss Mr. Duggan as your attorney but I will request and order that he stay here as your attorney legal advisor at this time, and I would strongly suggest you heed his advise that he has—that he gives you at this point. R. 34.

The record reflects that after being given his options, Hearn informed the jury that he was representing himself.

Hearn: My name is Michael Hearn. I'm representing myself really, but we just got this straight before y'all came in. R. 37.

After hearing Hearn's statement to the jury, the trial court informed the jury that Hearn had chosen to represent himself. Mr. Duggan would be his legal counsel offering his assistance. R. 37.

Court: All right. Thank you, Mr. Hearn. All right. So I can clarify that, Mr Hearn is representing himself on this matter; however, Mr. Duggan has graciously consented to stay here as he was court appointed to do and given Mr Hearn

advice as an attorney. He will not be representing Mr. Hearn, but he is a legal counsel designed to help an individual representing himself in this matter due to the nature —the serious nature of the offense. R. 37. (Emphasis by Appellee).

The record reflects that the trial court informed Hearn on the record that he would have to represent himself by the same standard required for licensed attorneys.

Court: All right. Mr. Hearn, we will hold you—since you have elected to represent yourself, we will hold you to the same standard as we would a licensed attorney. R. 112. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In Evans v. State 725 So.2d 613, 703 (Miss. 1997), the Court quoted with approval Faretta, infra, which stated that "the right to defend is personal." This is true even if a defendant's own defense, to a trained attorney or judge, could be interpreted as being conducted to his own detriment.

The right to defend is personal. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law. **Faretta**, 422 U.S. at 834, 95 S. Ct. at 2541 (1975).

In **Howard v. State** 701 So.2d 274, 284 (Miss.1997), the case relied upon by Hearn's appeal counsel, the Supreme Court pointed out that Howard's four attorneys all informed the trial court that they did not believe that he could assist in or carry out his own defense. Additionally, Howard, unlike Hearn, was not given a competency hearing.

In the instant cause, Mr. Duggan never expressed such an opinion of incapacity to assist or carry out a defense. As stated above with cites to the record, Hearn was found to be competent to stand trial by two forensic psychiatrists. R. 273-275. And the record indicates that Hearn, unlike Howard, was rational, and coherent enough to present his "hyperbole" defense to the charge. R. 288-

As stated by the court in Howard:

The language in **Metcalf v. State**, 629 So.2d 558 (Miss.1993), that defense counsel is in the best position to determine if the defendant has executed a knowledgeable waiver of counsel, is particularly applicable to this case. Each and every one of the four attorneys who found themselves dealing with Howard told the court in some form or fashion that Howard could not assist them in his defense, much less carry out his own defense. The court below could not have known whether Howard was capable of knowingly and intelligently waiving the right to counsel, as a competency hearing should have been ordered before or during the proceedings. The failure to do so, under these circumstances, constitutes error.

In the instant cause, Hearn's opening statement was consistent with his own testimony in defense of the charge. His argument was that he made what appeared to be threats, but they really were not threats. This was just his way of expressing himself due to his frustration over the government "trying to railroad me." R. 121. In addition, the record reflects that Hearn relied upon his counsel, Mr. Duggan, during the trial as well as allowed him to make his closing argument before the jury. R. 120-122; 369-376.

In **Howard**, **supra**, p .287, the court found there was a presumption that participation by stand by counsel was with the consent of a pro se defendant who had chosen to conduct his own defense.

Finally, the McKaskie Court (McKaskie v. Wiggins, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984)) established that once the pro se defendant invites or agrees to participation by counsel, any subsequent appearances by counsel must be presumed to be within the defendant's acquiescence, at least until the point that the defendant expressly and unambiguously renews his request that counsel be silenced.

In **Brooks v. State** 763 So.2d 859, 867 (25 \P) (Miss. 2000), the Supreme Court found that where there is evidence that a defendant's right to represent himself was honored, and stand by counsel's participation was in accordance with the defendant's right to control his own defense, there

was no evidence of any harm under Feretta, supra., and its progeny in this State.

¶ 26. This Court should not ignore a defendant's persistent pleas that he be allowed to exercise a constitutional right, even if it appears that the defendant would have been wiser to waive the right in question. It should be noted, however, that the trial judge did not completely deny, but merely limited, Brooks his right to represent himself at trial. In considering a defendant's rights in the present "hybrid" representation context, the United States Supreme Court has stated that: (T)he primary focus must be on whether the defendant had a fair chance to present his case in his own way First, the pro se defendant is entitled to preserve actual control over the case he chooses to present to the jury. This is the core of the Faretta right. If standby counsel's participation over the defendants' objection effectively allows counsel to make or substantially interfere with any significant tactical decisions, or to control the questioning of the witnesses, or to speak instead of the defendant on any matter of importance, the Faretta right is eroded. Second, participation by standby counsel without the defendant's consent should not be allowed to destroy the jury's perception that the defendant is representing himself. McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 178-79, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 122 (1984).

The Appellee would submit that there was sufficient evidence for determining that Hearn was competent to stand trial, as found by a team of forensic psychiatrists. R. 273-275. The record also reflects that Hearn intelligently and knowingly of his own free will waived his right to Mr. Duggan's counsel during his trial. R. 30-37. The record reflects that the trial court correctly stated for the record that after being informed of his options, Hearn intelligently chose to represent himself. R. 30-37.

The record also reflects that Duggan's participation during the trial was at the invitation or consent of Hearn. R. 369-376.

The Appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT DR. MOORE'S TESTIMONY WAS PROPERLY RECEIVED.

Hearn argues that the trial court erred in admitting psychiatrist Dr. Tom Moore's testimony. Hearn believes that this was "plain error." Hearn thinks that a psychologist can only reveal confidential patient information under very limited circumstances. This would include situations where the patient consents or where failure to disclose would result in danger to others. Hearn did not think that either of these exceptions applied in his case. Appellant's brief page 31-37.

To the contrary, as recognized by Hearn's appellant counsel, the record reflects there was no objection to Dr. Moore's testimony. There was no objection based upon the violation of the physician's duty of maintaining professional confidentiality, under the circumstances of this case, which is being argued for the first time on appeal. R. 174-195; C.P. 118-119.

In Haddox v. State, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated:

Because these arguments are not preserved for appeal, this Court cannot reverse based upon them. The assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal. **Baine v. State**, 606 So. 2d 1076 (Miss. 1992); **Willie v. State**, 585 So. 2d 660, 671 (Miss. 1991); **Crawford v. State**, 515 So. 2d 936,938(Miss. 1987);...

The record reflects a hearing was held on a motion to suppress Hearn's statements on grounds of violation of confidentiality under M. R.E. 503 (b). C.P. 60. R. 6-30. This section states "the general rule of privilege." The general rule is that "the patient" has a general privilege to refuse to disclose or let others disclose knowledge about his medical condition as revealed to a physician as part of diagnosis and treatment for his illness.

However, the record indicates that Hearn was advised and warned that statements of threats

to kill others exceeded the confines established for confidentiality between a patient and a physician.

In short, this was not a case of a patient refusing to disclose but rather of a patient clearly wanting disclosure.

Without conceding that this issue was waived, the Appellee will also consider the merits. The Supreme Court has stated that "plain error" constituted trial error serious enough to have resulted in a "miscarriage of justice." It must also be error that effected "substantial rights of a defendant." The record reflects that neither of these conditions were met in the instant cause.

In Morgan v. State 793 So.2d 615, 617 (Miss. 2001), the Court stated that only errors that generate "a miscarriage of justice" rise to the level of plain error. The Court of Appeals has followed this precedent in many of its prior rulings, including **Taylor v. State** 754 So.2d 598, 603 (¶11) (Miss. App. 2000).

¶ 9. The plain error rule is codified in Miss. R. Evid. 103(d). It provides that nothing precludes the Court from taking notice of plain errors affecting the substantial rights of a defendant, even though they were not brought to the attention of the trial court. If a party persuades the court of the substantial injustice that would occur if the rule were not invoked, the court may invoke the rule. See Edwards v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 512 F.2d 276 (5th Cir.1975). "Only an error so fundamental that it generates a miscarriage of justice rises to the level of plain error," however. Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss.1989); Kuehne & Nagel (AG & Co.) v. Geosource, Inc., 874 F.2d 283, 292 (5th Cir.1989).

The record reflects that Hearn's communication with Dr. Moore was not confidential. The record indicates that Hearn was warned about the possibility of disclosure to prevent harm or danger to others. The record also reflects that after being warned, Hearn indicated to Dr. Moore in a public place that he did not care if his threats to the judges were revealed to them. R. 179.

The record also indicates that Hearn had been writing numerous letters addressed to the judges in question expressing his desire to do them harm. These letters, which he admitted writing, were sent by Hearn himself without any disclosure to Dr. Moore or any other mental health official.

See exhibits 6-10 which are copies of letters addressed to Judges Roberts and Bailey by Hearn. They are contained in the manila envelope marked "Exhibits."

Dr. Moore testified that he warned Hearn that if he repeated his threats to kill, he would be require to reveal this information. R. 25-26; 179-182. After that warning, Hearn repeatedly informed Dr Moore of his intent to carry out his threats to kill. Dr. Moore believed Hearn both intended to do them harm but was also capable of carrying out his threat when released from incarceration.

Q.-after the initial statement that he made regarding killing the judges, is that when you informed him that you would have to tell?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. After that, did he continue to tell you that again and again?

A. Yes, sir. R. 25-26.

During the trial, with Mr. Hearn representing himself, the trial court permitted Dr. Moore to testify about his conversation with Hearn at the hospital. While Hearn objected, the trial court overruled the objections which were general and not on the same grounds being raised on appeal.

Q. What did Mr. Hearn tell you regarding Judge Roberts and Judge Bailey?

A. Well, basically, you know, at that particular point in time, he basically wassaid that he would risk incarceration again even if—if he was caught doing personal injury to either one of them. So I questioned him as to his intent, and he says when he got out, he was fully intending to do that..

And I asked him —I said, Do you realize the consequences of that? And he says, I'll—I don't care whether I'm incarcerated again. I'm going to do it—R. 179.

Q. Okay. So if the assessment of his history, that sort of thing indicated that he might make threats from time to time but there was no information or really any way to substantiate that he might actually carry them out, normally that would be privileged?

A. Uh-huh.

O. You would not be able to even tell-

A. No.

Q. But in this case, once you reached that threshold where it appears to everyone that there is some possibility that that will be carried out, you actually have a legal duty to inform?

A. That's correct.

Q. And is that why there was a letter written in August to Judge Roberts and Judge Bailey regarding these threats?

A. That's correct. R. 180-181.

Q. So he was wanting to know whether or not you had actually given them that information?

A. That is correct.

Q. Did he indicate that that was what he wanted to happen?

A. Well, basically, he just, you know, basically said that it didn't matter to him. And so it was a very brief matter. R. 182

Q. Now, you indicated in your warn letter that you believed that Mr. Hearn was capable of acting on his threats, is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Do you still have that feeling?

A. Yes, I do. R. 184. (Emphasis by Appellee).

In Mississippi State Bd. of Psychological Examiners v. Hosford 508 So. 2d 1049, 1055 (Miss.1987) the Court concluded that a psychologist may disclose "otherwise confidential information" where "not to do so would result in clear danger to the person or to others."

One provision of that code regards patient confidences. Principle 5 of the Ethical Principles of Psychologists requires respect for "the confidentiality of information"

obtained from persons in the course of their work as psychologists." Only two exceptions to the principle of confidentiality are found. The first, of course, is where the patient consents to the disclosure. In the second, even though no consent be given, the psychologist may disclose otherwise confidential information where "not to do so would result in clear danger to the person or to others."

M. C. A. §73-30-17 states that one ground for revealing otherwise confidential information received from a mental health patient was the patient's "contemplation of a crime or harmful act."

No licensed professional counselor may disclose any information acquired during professional consultation with clients except:

- a) With the written consent of the client, or in the case of death or disability or in case of a minor, with the written consent of his parent, legal guardian or conservator, or other person authorized by the court to file suit
- b) When a communication reveals the contemplation of a crime or harmful act, or intent to commit suicide. (Emphasis by Appellee).

The record cited above reflects that Dr. Moore's testimony was properly received into evidence. The record reflects that Hearn was warned that intentional threats with an intention to carry them out could require disclosure to prevent warn. The record also reflects even after the warning, Hearn repeated his threats and intention to carry them out. He also expressed his desire to have those threatened warned of his intent to harm them. R. 182.

The Appellee would submit that this issue was waived, and it was not plain error. This issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

THE RECORD REFLECTS THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED, GIVEN THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Hearn's counsel believes that the trial court erred in not granting the jury insanity instructions. He believes that Hearn's actions and statements before the jury should have sufficiently indicated to the jury that his sanity was an issue in the instant cause. Appellant's brief page 37-40.

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